

Working 4 Paper

Opening up markets or fostering a new satellite state? Detangling the impetuses of Chinese land investments in Tajikistan

Irna Hofman

April 2015



Opening up markets or fostering a new satellite state? Detangling the impetuses of Chinese land investments in Tajikistan

by Irna Hofman

Published by: BRICS Initiative for Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS) in collaboration with:

Universidade de Brasilia

Campus Universitário Darcy Ribeiro

Brasília - DF 70910-900

Brazil

Tel: +55 61 3107-3300

E-mail: sauer@unb.br

Website: http://www.unb.br/

Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul Av. Paulo Gama, 110 - Bairro Farroupilha

Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul

Brazil

Tel: +55 51 3308-3281

E-mail: schneide@ufrgs.br Website: www.ufrgs.br/

Institute for Poverty, Land and Agrarian Studies (PLAAS)

University of the Western Cape, Private Bag X17

Bellville 7535, Cape Town

South Africa

Tel: +27 21 959 3733 Fax: +27 21 959 3732

E-mail: info@plaas.org.za Website: www.plaas.org.za

College of Humanities and Development Studies

China Agricultural University

No. 2 West Yuanmingyuan Road, Haidian District

Beijing 100193 PR China

Tel: +86 10 62731605 Fax: +86 10 62737725

E-mail: yejz@cau.edu.cn

Website: http://cohd.cau.edu.cn/

Universidade Estadual Paulista (UNESP)

Rua Quirino de Andrade, 215 São Paulo - SP 01049010

Brazil

Tel: +55-11-5627-0233

E-mail: bernardo@ippri.unesp.br

Website: www.unesp.br

Transnational Institute

PO Box 14656 1001 LD Amsterdam The Netherlands

Tel: +31 20 662 66 08 Fax: +31 20 675 71 76

E-mail: tni@tni.org Website: www.tni.org

International Institute of Social Studies

P.O. Box 29776 2502 LT The Hague The Netherlands

Tel: +31 70 426 0460 Fax: +31 70 426 079

E-mail: information@iss.nl Website: www.iss.nl

Future Agricultures Consortium Institute of Development Studies

University of Sussex Brighton BN1 9RE

England

Tel: +44 (0)1273 915670

E-mail: info@future-agricultures.org

Website: http://www.future-agricultures.org/

©April 2015

Editorial committee: Jun Borras, Ben Cousins, Juan Liu & Ben McKay

Published with support from Ford Foundation and the National Research Foundation of South Africa.

Table of contents

1 Introduction	1
2 China's going global and engagement with Central Asia	
2.1 Characterising China's rise in Central Asia	2
2.2 China in Tajikistan	3
3 China's interests in Eurasia: regional stability and market interests	5
3.1 Regional and social stability	5
3.2 The Silk Road Economic Belt	6
3.3 Theorising China's drivers of land investments in Central Asia	8
4 Different kinds of Chinese agricultural engagements in Tajikistan	10
4.1 Chinese individual farm projects in Tajikistan: cross border entrepreneurship	10
4.2 Large-scale Chinese land investment in Tajikistan: commercially state-driven?	12
5 Conclusion	16
References	18

Abstract

New geopolitical dynamics and the surge for natural resources, such as land, accompany the rise of the BRICS countries in the global arena. In this paper, I discuss the case of Chinese agricultural land investments in the Central Asian state, Tajikistan. Emerging from a Soviet past, Tajikistan seems to be on its way to becoming one of China's newest satellite states. During the last five years, Chinese involvement in Tajikistan has become more and more diversified, including in land and agriculture, which points to the multifaceted drivers behind China's presence in the neighbouring Tajik republic. I thus use Tajikistan to explore the nature and drivers of Chinese land acquisitions in Central Asia, a region normally ignored in the debate on global agricultural land investments. Such an exercise is expected to raise more broadly applicable insights into how various, and often competing, drivers are contributing to China's foreign land rush.

Keywords: Tajikistan; China; land investments; agriculture; Chinese companies

Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the support provided by the BICAS consortium and the Leiden University based Modern East Asia Research Centre (MEARC) to enable the field research and writing of this paper. I moreover thank my supervisor Oane Visser, and the assistance by Qi Tian, Solange Chatelard for their insights and valuable input.

1 Introduction

China's influence in its neighbouring Central Asian states is growing at a fast pace. Among the latest and less common manifestations of this influence are Chinese land investments in Tajikistan. Importantly, while a significant number of analyses appeared in the past five years on Chinese agricultural projects in Africa, Southeast Asia and Latin America, China's engagement in agriculture in its close vicinity has been discussed much less¹ (see also Breslin 2009, Henderson *et al.* 2013, Yahuda 2010, Visser and Spoor 2011, Visser *et al.* 2012 for reports on Chinese investments in Russia's Far East/Siberia).

In this paper, I shed light on China's emergent position in the Central Asian region, as one of the BRICS whose activities in global land deals are closely followed. Through a description of different kinds of Chinese involvement in Tajikistan's agriculture, I aim to describe the nature of China's farming activities in Tajikistan, and to explicate that these different forms represent different bilateral or cross-border interactions, signifying the major ways in which Chinese actors currently engage with land globally. In doing so, I intend to contribute to filling the gap in understanding China's role in foreign land investments, building upon field research I conducted in Tajikistan (2012-2015), in China (2014), and supplemented with archive and media/web research conducted between 2012 and 2014.

The nature of different Chinese investments in Tajikistan exemplifies that there are multiple drivers behind China's involvement in land in its immediate 'neighbourhood'. In what follows, I aim to explain (firstly) that this border region has particular significance for Chinese domestic issues²; but at the same time, I (secondly) aim to show that individual Chinese endeavours are clearly led by commercial aims (a container concept commonly used to explain Western, and sometimes Chinese, land investments); whereas (thirdly), the investments in areas with low-lying productive land, could point at entirely different impetuses for these land investments.

While it is often assumed that the pursuit of food or energy security drive China's global surge for land, this argument does not sufficiently explain China's activities in Tajikistan. The case of Tajikistan, and Central Asia more broadly, offers an interesting case to investigate various, and alternative, less discussed drivers behind China's land investment rush – not just in abstract, broad terms, but by investigating them more closely. Examples include the 'export' of surplus rural labour, border region stability, and long-term geopolitical/international cooperation, among others.

After this introduction, the next section continues with describing China's engagement in the Central Asian region and Tajikistan, which border the People's Republic of China (PRC) along the western frontier. This description is partially chronological, tracing the developments of Chinese projects and presence in the neighbouring region, particularly since the year 2000. In the third section, I discuss and detail the drivers of Chinese presence in the region, including in the agriculture sphere. The fourth section thereafter, describes different types of Chinese involvement in Tajik agriculture, which include Chinese individual farm projects, as well as a larger investment by a Chinese company that operates in different districts in southwest Tajikistan. This latter part will highlight the variety of drivers of Chinese land investments. The last section concludes by wrapping up and summarising observations and findings discussed earlier.

¹ This not only refers to China's global land investments, but also to discourses 'emphasizing the appeal of China as an alternative tend to focus on developing states in Latin America and, most often, Africa (Breslin 2009, 831).

² 'The Soviet Union was a key political and economic partner of Xinjiang in the 1930s and 1940s, before the founding of the People's Republic of China' (Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 3). (...) In the 50s and 60s already many people from Xinjiang migrated to the bordering Soviet republics. (ibid.).

2 China's going global and engagement with Central Asia

2.1 Characterising China's rise in Central Asia

The opening up of Central Asia after the Soviet collapse provided corporate and state actors with possibilities to extend and enlarge their activities and influence in the region. Not least, China's regional rise benefited significantly from the opportunity to access the resource frontiers in its western neighbours.

Since the late 1990s, Chinese projects in the former Soviet border zone, including Central Asia and Russia's Far East, started to develop. In 1996, the Shanghai Group was established, consisting of the three Central Asian republics of Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan, as well as Russia and China. The Shanghai Group – The Shanghai Five, was joined by Uzbekistan in 2001, and transformed into the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO). The SCO has become one of the key building blocks of China's expansion into Central Asia (see also Yahuda 2010, 192, Li Czin 2013, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, Kassenova 2009). The main focus of the SCO hitherto has been on security cooperation and combating terrorism and separatism, but its actual results in the sphere of security remain disputable to date (Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 28-31). The agreements that have taken form during SCO summits are predominantly bilateral (interview with Mr. Kholiknazarov, director of the Centre for Strategic Research under the President of the Republic of Tajikistan, 18 February 2015). The SCO has two important economic aspects for China: 1) opportunity of development of the Far West, and 2) conquest of new markets (Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 34). These two aspects play critical roles in China's regional rise, which I discuss in the third section.

China's presence in the region is most often associated with high investments and large construction projects. The main sectors in which Chinese companies are active in Central Asia are infrastructure, energy (oil, gas extraction), and in recent years, also in agriculture. According to Laruelle and Peyrouse (2012, 47), up until 2012, there were relatively few medium-sized Chinese enterprises in Central Asia, particularly in comparison with the number of Chinese businesses in Southeast Asia. Based on my own observations in Tajikistan (winter 2014-2015), many new businesses have emerged there, ranging from individual petty trade to large state companies, and including a significant number of medium-sized private companies.

Until today, China's state-owned companies are assumed to head most of China's overseas projects, particularly when it comes to their impact in economic, social and geopolitical and transformation (see Henderson *et al.* 2013, 1242, Hofman and Ho 2012). Yet, Chinese overseas activities include both state-led 'going out', as well as individual, private economic activities (fieldwork 2014/2015, Yahuda 2010, Olimova 2008, Sodiqov 2009, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, Alff 2014, Jarosiewicz and Strachota 2013). While national media zooms in primarily on the bilateral (i.e. state-state) initiatives, the Chinese presence is in fact much more pluralistic, and also comprises of small-scale enterprises run by Chinese individuals.

China's regional rise seems to transform, from initially predominantly state-guided projects to less-guided, more dynamic developments. This has been documented in other regions too, where less state-guided, more private initiatives followed earlier state-backed investments (see also Henderson *et al.* 2013, Frost and Ho 2005, writing on Chinese companies in Southeast Asia). Along these lines of reasoning, one could state that China's rise in the Central Asian region is in a particular phase along a development path, in which the kinds of Chinese actors and businesses are transforming over time (see Gu 2009, Tan-Mullins *et al.* 2010, Yan and Sautman 2010, writing on Chinese actors in Africa). Chatelard (in a personal communication in November 2014) and Laruelle and Peyrouse (2012, 189) also observed other parallels between Chinese businesses in Central Asia and Africa. Like in Africa, the Chinese state was a latecomer, but has rapidly gained prominent footing there now, as a generous creditor of host states' budgets. At the same time, Chinese companies have obtained prominent roles in infrastructure construction, and acquired prominent positions in local markets where they sell cheap goods that are affordable for local people (see also Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 189).

There are two other related observable trends in China's investments and overseas projects. One BRICS Initiatives in Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS)

remarkable trend is the 'sectoral split' in Chinese actors' businesses (Henderson *et al.* 2013, 1230). Individual, small and medium size companies engage primarily in petty trade and smaller manufacturing with a clear commercial orientation. The larger projects in infrastructure and extractive industries are undertaken by the bigger companies, which are tied to Chinese provincial or national authorities³. This 'split' may disappear in the future, driven by more private involvement in the monopolised economic sectors of previously emerging economies. As such, it may create apparent competition between private corporate investment and state-controlled enterprises. The second interesting trend is the strong, regional clustering of Chinese actors – meaning that several Chinese individuals and companies come from the same region (Henan for instance⁴), but also that they eventually settle in clusters. For instance, in Tajikistan, one can observe a concentration of Chinese investors in particular districts. A large number of projects originate from Henan province, and there is a clear clustering of Chinese projects in one of the districts surrounding the Tajik capital. This is the case for instance in Yovon district, where Chinese companies have built a cement factory, constructed a railway, a power plant, and lease farmland. A logical explanation for the concentration of settlements could be that investments go hand in hand with elite connections, which have their stakes in particular locations.

2.2 China in Tajikistan

China's presence in Tajikistan has been more pronounced since the second half of the 2000s onwards (interview 18 February 2015, Olimova 2008, Ibraimov 2009, 48; Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012), and the importance of Chinese capital injections for Central Asian economies is growing rapidly now that the former Soviet republics are facing severe decreases in remittance-flows from Russia (see also Farchy 2014, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 115, Jumguriat 2012). The growth in Chinese projects in Tajikistan evolved more slowly and remains small in comparison with Chinese involvement in other Central Asian states, such as Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan. Nonetheless, in Tajik terms, and relative to other foreign donors, China's role for economic development is significant – outcompeting other countries in terms of loans and infrastructure development⁵ (see also Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, ICG 2013, Sodiqov 2009, Jarosiewicz and Strachota 2013).

China has become Tajikistan's second most important ally (after Russia) – in terms of state credits, loans and investments – and the Tajik establishment has turned towards China, rather than Iran, Russia, or Europe (fieldwork 2015). The director of the Centre for Strategic Research under Tajikistan's President Kholiknazarov does not shy away from expressing good neighbourhood relations. China is the most wanted non-conditional creditor in today's Tajikistan (interview 18 February 2015). China announced an investment of USD 2 billion in 2014, to be invested mainly in infrastructure and energy in Tajikistan. For 2015-2018, an investment package totalling USD 6 billion has been announced⁶ (interview 12 February 2015, see also Farchy 2014a).

⁴ Henan province, as stated in Chinese media, is currently facilitating the establishment of 17 agricultural companies overseas, covering 11 countries over the five continents (Xinhuanet 2014).

³ In Africa this is not necessarily the case (personal communication Chatelard, 21 November 2014), where larger Chinese private companies have become involved in major projects, like infrastructure and energy production.

⁵ Chinese Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) accounted for almost 50 per cent of all FDI in the Tajik economy in 2013. The numbers of the first half of 2014 indicate a similar trend, in which China by far is the largest investor in the country (Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the RT Tajikistan, 2014) retrieved from http://mfa.tj/en/investment-climate/investment-climate-in-tajikistan.html on 13 October 2014.

⁶ The planned investment is equivalent to two-thirds of Tajikistan's 2013 gross domestic product and more than 40 times its annual foreign direct investment (Farchy 2014a).

The amount of sovereign debt Tajikistan owes to China increased up to USD 200 million. While this is a fair amount by Chinese standards, in Tajik terms this sum is much more substantial, especially when taking into account the interest rate attached. Instead of writing it off, the Chinese government takes a more pragmatic approach. It allows the Tajik government to gradually pay it off, while the Tajik economy is opened up for inflow of Chinese goods and businesses. This suggests that access to future resource extraction plays a role in Chinese loans and investments⁷.

Equally as important as state-driven initiatives, is the fact that many Chinese individuals have crossed the border in the last few years⁸, after having heard and noticed the lucrative nature of doing business in the frontier zone of Central Asia. While such small-scale activities often do not catch the eye, Chinese individuals have in fact been the most active agents of entrepreneurship in China's growth abroad (see also Wang 2007 and Gu 2009, writing on Chinese private companies in Africa). Since China's 'opening up' in the early 1980s, and 'going global' in the mid 2000s, people have actively responded to new market opportunities, either at home, in the direct vicinity, or further away. This also applies to Chinese individuals in present-day Central Asia⁹, Russia's Far East, and Mongolia (see also Dyatlov 2012).

Tajikistan has experienced increasing cross border interaction and investment, pursued by individuals and families who seek to build up a better life there (fieldwork 2014/2015). Some have started businesses in the trading of goods, yet others have used their experiences from back home to start privately-run farming businesses (interview 6/7-11 2014). Over time, the number of Chinese workers in Tajik society has fluctuated, clearly shaped by and depending on economic sector development¹⁰. According to some analysts there are around 10 to 15,000 registered Chinese migrants in Tajikistan (interview 13 February 2015, see also Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 129), while this number might reach 50,000 when informal migration is included (interview 13 February 2015). More exact numbers of Chinese migrants are difficult to find. The majority of Chinese migrants are only seasonally employed by Chinese companies and float between China and Tajikistan over the year (fieldwork observations 2014). There are no Tajik or Chinese agencies which keep reliable statistics in this regard – and there are no figures made public about the number of Chinese people entering the country, as migration of Chinese is a very sensitive issue in Tajikistan (interview on 13 February 2015 with Muzaffar Olimov from the Tajik think tank Sharq; see also Dyatlov 2012, on the discourse of Chinese migrants in Russia and the difficulties in making proper numeric assessments).

The growing number of Chinese migrant workers and businesses has aroused increasing fears and suspicions among the Tajik population, but one notices that the discourse is in transformation (fieldwork 2015, Pannier 2011, Vinson 2012, Tursunzoda 2013). The fear among Tajik citizens for China's expansion into the country reached a climax in 2011 when a longstanding border dispute was settled between China and

BRICS Initiatives in Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS)

-

⁷ More long-term projects have been implemented in the past few years. One example is the joint-venture of the China National Oil and Gas Exploration and Development Corporation (CNODC) with Total (from France) and a Tajik counterpart that was established in 2013, to explore oil and gas reserves in Tajikistan's south-western region Khatlon (interview 9 September 2014, see also Farchy 2014a). Meanwhile, Tajikistan has become a transit country for the gas pipeline constructed from Turkmenistan to China, from which Tajikistan apparently does not benefit.

⁸ Entrance to Tajikistan from China is possible only over the border post at Kulma-Kalasu (see also Alimov 2012). It was opened in 2004, and has increased in importance as a corridor for China's regional growth. Only since 2010 has the border been open year-round.

⁹ According to Laruelle and Peyrouse (2012), informal interactions in the China-Central Asia border zone are increasingly replaced by more formally institutionalized trade patterns (see also Alff 2014). I doubt, however, whether this argument is still valid today, primarily since there has been significant growth in cross-border entrepreneurship (from both sides) during the last few years.

¹⁰ Relative increase and decrease of Chinese personnel fluctuates with economic dynamics. In 2014, the number of temporary workers decreased due to an increase in prices of construction material, which makes profits and turnover of Chinese enterprises in Tajikistan lower, with consequently less work to offer Chinese people.

Tajikistan¹¹. This border dispute originated under Soviet rule, and China's claim of Tajik land was coupled with claims of Kazakh and Kyrgyz territory (CentrAsia 2004, see also Yahuda 2010, 191, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, Tursunzoda 2013). The concession of land by the Tajik government to China in the eastern autonomous region, Gorno Badakhshon, comprised an area of 100,000 square kilometres – meaning one per cent of Tajikistan's total land area (Olimova 2008, 64, Alimov 2012, 53-64, see also Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012). Tajik people feared that the Tajik government would handover more land in the future, which added to the speculations of China's growing presence in the country. Wariness over Chinese take-overs, colonization and 'Chinafication' still frequently circulate in the media (see for instance SSSR 2009, Ilhom 2012, Asia Plus 2014b, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 108, CentrAsia 2004, ICG 2013, Jarosiewicz and Strachota 2013). This leads me into the following section, in which I discuss the possible drivers of China in Tajikistan.

3 China's interests in Eurasia: regional stability and market interests

The debate on China's role in Central Asia features two interrelated aspects that parallel the debate on China's global rise: first, the supposed state-backing of companies, and second, the difficulty in getting a grip on the structure and motivation of Chinese companies going global. In the following sections, I focus particularly on the later aspect of possible motives for China's presence in Tajikistan. The issue of state backing resurfaces throughout the text, and I touch on this issue with particular reference to the Chinese land investments in a later section.

3.1 Regional and social stability

The role of Chinese actors in the Central Asian region cannot be understood well without placing it in the wider geographic and socio-political environment of the border zone. Regional and border stability are prime aspects for the Chinese government. These aspects also feature bilateral meetings, and are cornerstones of the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO). Securing regional stability is a prominent driver of China's presence in the region, which includes the Chinese autonomous Xinjiang region, Afghanistan and Pakistan. All are earmarked as sources of social and political instability, which demand the Chinese government plays an active role in its own backyard.

The Chinese government has to balance two major issues, which can be termed 'good neighbourhood policy' (*mulin zhengce*)¹², and 'hard power' – the latter referring to the issue of controlling the Uygur population in Xinjiang (Breslin 2009, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 199). Stability – including the border – is the bottom line of China's rulers. 'If China fails to stay stable, the Chinese people cannot stay happy. This will be a major disaster for the world', Vice-Minister Ai Ping stated in a meeting with a European delegation (July 2014).

The 'far west development', mentioned above in relation to the Shanghai Cooperation Organisation (SCO), plays an important role in China's presence in Central Asia, particularly when it comes to controlling ethnic minorities and guiding migrant mobility. For Chinese individuals, the autonomous region Xinjiang is the principal corridor towards the west. The Xinjiang region is changing rapidly, mainly resulting from

¹² This is often 'referred to in China as a 'peripheral policy'—a policy towards China's peripheral areas or *zhoubian zhengce*' (Breslin 2009, 819).

¹¹ As Olimova (2008, 64) describes, 'China claimed three disputed sites in Gorno Badakhshan (...) totalling to an area of over 20,000 square kilometers. In 2001, after a long period of coordination, Tajikistan agreed to transfer more than 1,000 square kilometers of this territory to China. In June 2006, work began on border demarcation; it continued until the end of 2008.' By 2013, the border has shifted. While there were no settlements in the disputed area, Tajik herders have lost their pastures (Olimova 2008, 64, Alimov 2012).

China's open door policy and the far west development program. Part of Chinese migrants' presence in Tajikistan stemmed from people's earlier settlement in China's Xinjiang region (interviews November 2014), about which Laruelle and Peyrouse (2012, 183) wrote: 'Xinjiang systematically cast as the key example of the Chinese quest for a new *Lebensraum*, as the settlement of millions of Han constitutes the third phase of the 'Far West development program'.

For the Chinese state, economic development and continuing economic growth and welfare for the Chinese people are also critical in safeguarding social stability, particularly in the border region. Logically, China's rise in the Eurasian region is also given in by the need to further economic expansion, in which the 'revival' of the historical Silk Road plays a very important role, which I describe in the following section.

3.2 The Silk Road Economic Belt

In 2013, Xi Jinping launched the plan to rejuvenate the grand Silk Road, the historical trade corridor connecting East Asian dynasties with major economies in the west. The impetus given to rehabilitate the old trade route has been driven by the wish to facilitate trade for economies both in the East and West, but should also facilitate China's rise in border economies and those further away. Importantly, the Silk Road was historically also a corridor that allowed for cultural exchanges and knowledge transfer.

The objective to rehabilitate the corridor cannot be understood without first understanding the on-going competition between states to gain and hold their ground in the Central Asian region. In 2011, Hillary Clinton visited the Central Asian region and sought to give new impetus to the Silk Road under the name of the 'New Silk Road Initiative' The launch of the Silk Road Economic Belt by Xi Jinping in 2013 can thus be read as an act striving to (re)capture and control the plan, along with regional economic growth.

The renewed attention of both the United States and China must also be placed in the context of Russia's continuing efforts to stay present in the region. In 2012, Russia established the Eurasian Customs union, which includes (anno 2015) Russia, Belarus, Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan. The Customs union facilitates trade between the involved economies, while also imposing obstacles for non-aligned countries. For the Chinese state, which has major investments in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan, the customs union, particularly since Kyrgyzstan's recent accession, creates obstacles for goods entering into Central Asia. The customs union guarantees the Russian state a stake in economic developments in its former periphery.

Rather than any other state, like the United States or Russia, the Chinese government has been actively building corridors and inroads into Eurasia since 2013, with the aim to open new markets nearby, but also to facilitate trade and business further away. The Third Plenum of the 18th Party Congress, held on November 12, 2013, also contained explicit goals to drive Chinese investment overseas.

With significant investment in infrastructure and trade (including policies, bureaucratic simplifications), the roads towards the west are opening up, providing improved access to energy resources and to emerging markets in the western neighbourhood and further away (see also Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, Rickleton 2014, Jarosiewicz and Strachota 2013). The investments involved are significant, with new investments, loans and credits being augmented yearly, and Xi Jinping announced considerable investments in the Central Asian economies of Kazakhstan, Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. Xi Jinping has announced the establishment of a USD 40 billion fund to develop infrastructure in the border region (see also Rickleton 2014).

Efforts to develop the Silk Road Economic Belt are undertaken by the Chinese national government as

BRICS Initiatives in Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS)

_

¹³ As Clinton stated: 'Turkmen gas fields could help meet both Pakistan's and India's growing energy needs and provide significant transit revenues for both Afghanistan and Pakistan. Tajik cotton could be turned into Indian linens. Furniture and fruit from Afghanistan could find its way to the markets of Astana or Mumbai and beyond' (quoted in Kucera 2011).

well as by lower level, provincial authorities¹⁴ (see also Xinhuanet 2014, Yuldoshev 2014b, Pan Zhiping 2014). China's preferential loans and investments in the region, as well as elsewhere throughout the world (see Wang 2007 and Alden and Hughes 2009, writing on Chinese investments in Africa, and Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 52, writing on Chinese loans in Central Asia) facilitate the global expansion of Chinese companies. Chinese grants, loans, or aid packages provided by Chinese banks (such as the Chinese ExIm Bank and the Chinese Development Bank), are regularly transferred in kind. By granting loans on the condition that this Chinese company executes a particular project – agricultural research and production, infrastructure construction – the sum granted is actually returning to the Chinese economy¹⁵. Moreover, by controlling the finances, the Chinese donor controls final expenditures to avoid corruption. Hence, the loans are primarily usurped by Chinese businesses, and the facilities provided for by bilateral agreements between provincial authorities and the Tajik national authorities literally open doors, which Hofman and Ho (2012) previously called 'developmental outsourcing' Commerce undertaken by Chinese companies is driven in tandem with Chinese authorities' efforts to gain presence and power.

The Silk Road Economic Belt has all to do with China's desire to continue its economic growth, beyond its need to address 'resource hunger'. This relates to domestic competition, to state finance, and to labour issues, which I deal with shortly hereafter. China's development toward a more market-based economy pushed a process of privatisation of Chinese state-owned enterprises and led to a drastic state withdrawal in several sectors of the economy (the famous 'grasping the large, and letting go of the small'). It forced centrally planned enterprises to dismantle and reconfigure in a competitive market (see also Yan and Sautman 2010, 315, on Chinese State Owned agricultural companies in Africa). Especially for those enterprises, which were unable to face the fierce domestic competition, the opening up of borders provided an opportunity to stay in business (see also Naughton 2007). They could seek their fortune abroad. This unfolded in different migration and trade patterns overseas. Families, or entire companies, moved abroad to make a new start, sometimes oriented to an entirely different market segment¹⁷. In some instances, a company could receive a small amount of start-up capital from the Chinese government.

As a consequence of the wide array of investments, trade and migration patterns by Chinese actors, it is very difficult to estimate the role of the impetus given to the Silk Road Economic Belt in particular aspects of China's regional rise. The concept of the Silk Road Economic Belt is complicated by the fact that it remains very vague in terms of concrete goals, plans, and visions, as was clearly stated by policy experts in Tajikistan (interview 18 February 2015, see also Brown 2014). In official discourse in particular, the Silk Road Economic Belt is prominent (interviews China July 2014), which does not only include tangible development of infrastructure and corridors, but also includes transfer and expansion of ideas and ideologies, as analysts have stated (see for instance Ma Junjie 2015). Also interesting in this regard is the large amount of scholarships recently provided to Central Asian students to study in China. In early 2015, it was remarkable to see in how many young Tajik people in and around Dushanbe nowadays speak (some) Chinese. The decision to learn Chinese could be read as a pragmatic decision of Tajik parents to secure employment

_

¹⁴ 'As soon as the concept of a Silk Road Economic Belt was put forward, the Chinese provinces and cities along the ancient Silk Road responded proactively and put forward their proposals and suggestions on how to forge a modern Silk Road' (Pan Zhiping 2014).

With money returning to the Chinese economy, money can be re-invested or consumed domestically, which is one of the priority areas of the Chinese government, as also stated in the Third Plenum of November 2013.

¹⁶ According to Henderson *et al.* (2013, 1229): 'the companies that constitute the cutting edge of China's economic externalization are wholly or partially owned by the central government or by provincial or municipal governments.'

¹⁷ An interesting example – outside of the agrarian sphere – is a Chinese steel factory in Tajikistan. The company uses methods and techniques, which have been forbidden in China for reasons of environmental and labour safety; the conditions are highly polluting and the working conditions are harsh and unsafe (fieldwork September 2014).

for their children in the future, but at the same time it could be regarded as a longer-term vision of the Chinese government to develop infrastructure in both economic and human capital terms (interview 13 February 2015, fieldwork 2015).

The above clarifies that there is an inter-relationship between governmental goals, incentives, and profit-oriented companies. What remains complicated, is grasping the exact drive and background of Chinese agricultural land investments (as remarked by many researchers on China, see for instance Henderson *et al.* 2013, Hofman and Ho 2012). As Henderson *et al.* (2013, 1228) state, 'In developing an adequate understanding of Chinese capitalism we clearly need to take cognisance of the multiplicity of corporate forms in contemporary China'. This leads me to the next paragraph, in which I discuss the different drivers of Chinese land investments in Central Asia.

3.3 Theorising China's drivers of land investments in Central Asia

China's going global plan in regard to land is often explained by a number of different drivers: first, the issue of neo-colonialism and manifestations of a Chinese imperialism, second, the increasing resource hunger of the Chinese state and economy, and third, the Chinese pursuit of opening up its markets and profit-orientation. What is most often unacknowledged is a fourth issue: the fact that issues of labour surplus play a role in China's overseas investments, with regard to which I point particularly at self-initiated cross border activities. In what follows, I describe these different drivers from a Chinese background, and how these fit into the context of Chinese investments in Tajikistan.

3.3.1 China's strive for hegemony

China's surge for land is often described as neo-colonialism, driven by geopolitical interests to establish and secure worldwide hegemonic power, a need to counteract 'western' hegemony, and to secure future access to resources (for a critique see Hofman and Ho 2012, Bräutigam and Zhang 2013, Yan and Sautman 2010). As explained earlier, the grand Silk Road project is driven both by geopolitical as well as economic reasons, which may also touch on Chinese investments in Tajikistan. The natural resources produced by the Central Asian states, along with the social and political instability in the region, triggers other nation states to seek influence in these countries. There is longstanding competition in Central Asia among nation states like the United States, Russia and China, to (re)gain a strong foothold in the Central Asian region, as mentioned in a preceding paragraph.

3.3.2 China's quest for food

In relation to the 'quest for resources', a *second* driver that helps explain Chinese investments in extractive industries, the wave of agricultural investments that have been implemented all over the world since 2008, have often been explained by the drive to secure food supplies for the Chinese population¹⁸ (see for instance Grain 2008, for a critique see Hofman and Ho 2012, Bräutigam and Zhang 2013, Gong and le Billon 2014). I would argue, that this assumption should be challenged more often, by raising the question whether and to what extent China's domestic food security concerns really do drive investments. For instance, investments purposing cultivation of non-perishable crops, like soy in Latin American countries, may indeed be led by

BRICS Initiatives in Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS)

_

¹⁸ Chinese investments in African countries purposing cultivation of food crops in food insecure countries, have been subject to widespread media attention and critique, as being pursued for Chinese domestic interests, while further depriving local people's access to food (for a discussion see Bräutigam and Zhang 2013, Hofman and Ho 2012, Bräutigam and Tang 2009).

domestic needs, but in other settings, investments in the production of unpreserved vegetables and fruits are of a totally different kind. The transaction costs for shipping of unpreserved vegetables and fruits are substantial, which implies that shipping produce back to China is not worth it. This equally applies, maybe even more so, to perishable goods produced in Tajikistan, where the impoverished infrastructure and highly mountainous geography severely hinder the transportation and trade of food between landlocked Tajikistan and China. Besides the poor condition of the infrastructure, which forms significant obstacles, the bureaucracy and transaction costs are considerable for export of goods into China. Time required for trucks and lorries from Dushanbe to cross into China is three days, but if they carry goods from Tajikistan, the bureaucratic process takes almost a month, not including the cumbersome border issues, bribes, and informal taxation that also must be considered (fieldwork observations 2014, interviews September 2014 and January 2015, see also Bohr 2004). The issue of transporting goods back to China is disputable since the Chinese government is wary of the opium trade (Tajikistan is a transit country for opium produced in Afghanistan). Therefore Chinese authorities highly restrict shipping of goods from Central Asia to China through the Pamir Mountains.

Thus, refuting frequent speculations, investments in Tajikistan do not intend to supply the Chinese market. China's domestic food security is not at play here, which is something that has also been confirmed by the Chinese workers in the Tajik field (interviews with Chinese farm workers 5-6 January 2015, see also Bräutigam and Zhang 2013, 1690 on China in Africa, Yan and Sautman 2010, 315).

3.3.3 China's search for markets

A *third* driver could be singled out that plays a pronounced role in the context of China in Tajikistan: Chinese investments in Tajikistan are driven by the pursuit to open up and develop new markets, which are envisioned in the revitalisation of the Silk Road. The Tajik autonomous region Gorno Badakhshon has become one of the primary entrances of Chinese transport to Central Asia in the past decade (Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, Sodiqov 2009, Ibraimov 2009, 49). As Bräutigam and Zhang (2013, 1690) state in regard to Chinese investments in Africa: (...) 'the details of these stories suggest that the way they have been interpreted needs to be revised. In particular, these investments do not appear to be part of a coordinated Chinese strategy to secure land in Africa to grow food for China. Rather, they reflect the uncoordinated strategies of a number of different firms to explore commercial investment opportunities across multiple sectors.' The fact that the Chinese *agricultural* investments in Tajikistan have been established only recently – three or four years later than most other larger Chinese projects in construction and infrastructure – suggests that the agricultural investments might be driven by the need to cater to Chinese migrants' food preferences (fieldwork observations 2014). I will come back to this in a later section. Less known is the fact that the first individual undertakings took place several years before the bilateral agreements between Tajikistan and China were negotiated and agreed upon.

3.3.4 China's need for jobs

This brings me to a *fourth* driver: labour problems and surplus labour. Chinese cross border movements are vehicles for solving domestic problems, also in economic and social terms: channelling surpluses of companies, industries, and of jobless people. As Laruelle and Peyrouse (2012, 63) remarked: 'continental trade is not merely commercial in its vocation; it implies strategies of economic and social development whose primary objective is not profitability. Making local trade flows dynamic can help to solve social problems by alleviating poverty and providing work to landlocked populations.' This corresponds with the apparent drive and incentives provided by Henan province for instance, to establish agricultural businesses abroad (see also Xinhuanet 2014). In a related way, some have argued that the agricultural investments in

Africa function as a way to channel labour surplus from China's poor rural areas abroad¹⁹ (fieldwork observations 2014; see Bräutigam and Tang 2009, 964, for an African context). At the same time, one could interpret individually initiated overseas entrepreneurship in the cross border zone as a search for prosperity and overcoming unemployment at home (exemplified further below by the example of a Chinese family that is farming in Tajikistan). Also in other countries and regions bordering China, such as Siberia, Mongolia, Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan, one can observe these particular motives driving settlements across the borders (see also Alff 2014 who describes earlier Kazakh-Chinese cross border settlement, see also Dyatlov 2012).

I show further below that geopolitical, as well as commercial, and domestic stability motives, play a role in understanding Chinese investments in Tajikistan, perhaps even for state enterprises under strong guidance of a Chinese government, which pursues a geo-political agenda of regional social stability instead of expansion of (short-term) commercial business. Chinese foreign policy, investment, cross-border trade, migration and investments, certainly in the direct border zone, reflect the domestic issues at stake (see also Breslin 2009, 820). In the following section, I build upon these drivers discussed in the above. I describe and analyse the different kinds of Chinese actors engaged in Tajikistan's agricultural sector, which exemplify the drivers behind Chinese presence in Tajikistan.

4 Different kinds of Chinese agricultural engagements in Tajikistan

In this section, I describe the different types of Chinese actors involved in agricultural production in Tajikistan. In doing so, this sheds light on the various motives that drive Chinese involvement in Tajik agriculture. Additionally, the examples in this section provide insight into the forms and approaches that accompany these particular kinds of engagement.

Since 2012, Chinese companies have become involved in the agricultural sector of Tajikistan. This has been a sensitive issue ever since domestic and international media started to pay attention to land investments. Land ownership remains a 'political hot potato' in the Central Asian region. The actual implementation of the Chinese *agricultural* investment in Tajikistan is remarkable, since earlier announced and planned *agricultural* investments in Kyrgyzstan (2004) and Kazakhstan (2009) have been cancelled²⁰ (CentrAsia 2004, Demytrie 2010, Visser and Spoor 2011, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 108, 110). Opposition and protest in Tajikistan has been absent, which might explain why investments have in fact materialized, in contrast to Chinese investments announced in Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan (see also Trilling 2013, on civic protest in Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan regarding foreign investment in mining).

4.1 Chinese individual farm projects in Tajikistan: cross border entrepreneurship

Over the course of my periodic stays in Tajikistan (2012-2015), I have come across different Chinese individual farms, ranging from one to almost 100 hectares. These individual Chinese farms are managed by

BRICS Initiatives in Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS)

_

¹⁹ 'Chinese observers for instance have stated that agricultural investment in Africa also has the potential to relocate Chinese farmers displaced through the dual pressures of WTO trade liberalization and China's rapid urbanization' (Bräutigam and Tang 2009, 694).

In Kyrgyz media Chinese colonization and rumours about large Chinese leaseholds circulated, which thereafter have never been confirmed (CentrAsia 2004). The framing of the supposed deal hinted at discrediting the president of that time. A region in Xinjiang acquired rights to lease 7,000 ha. in Kazakhstan, in one of the border districts: 'the lands were rented to about 3,000 Chinese colonists for a period of ten years' (Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, 108). Again in 2009, rumours circulated about a supposed deal between Chinese and Kazakh authorities for the leasehold of 1,000,000 hectares of land. This time the announcement caused major protest, after which the agreement was not finalized (ibid, see also Visser and Spoor 2011, Demytrie 2010, on the Chinese investment in Kazakhstan in 2004 see Altaiskaia Pravda 2004)

one to a few people and engage in small-scale commercial sales at local bazaars. Their farming practices and types of land tenure arrangements differ, but these farmers can be categorised in the following way. First of all, there are Chinese individuals who grow vegetables for their personal use, or to supplement their income from their formal occupations in various Chinese companies (interview 2 November 2014). In most instances they work individually, otherwise they cooperate within their close network. The Chinese primarily use their labour power, techniques and inputs (fieldwork 2012 and 2013; interview 2 November 2014). The scale remains rather small, and the crops grown are for cooking Chinese dishes, such typical Chinese vegetables, garlic, Chinese pumpkin, cabbage and beans.

These particular small Chinese farming endeavours are self-organised. The migrants lease land for sometimes only one growing season, and seek to use fields in the direct vicinity of their accommodation.²¹ The people employing these activities sometimes have a rural background, but not necessarily. The demographic structure of Chinese society plays a role here. The Chinese economy has featured a transition in the past twenty years, which has been marked by rapid urbanisation and outmigration of the rural area. Most people who currently work in the urban (i.e. industrial sectors) have a rural background, and are used to cultivating their household plots intensively (it is also a post-Soviet practice to have and cultivate a household plot, see Visser 2009). While these people changed their occupations due to migration, they rely on their roots and use their farm experiences to supplement their formal income once abroad (interviews 8 November 2014, 12 November 2014, 26 October 2014).

The second type of Chinese small-scale farm is of a more established, permanent, commercial kind. It differs from the first in that its primary goal is capital accumulation, rather than being a non-remunerating subsistence activity. One example is a farm run by a Chinese household. The family, originating from the eastern part of China, moved initially to Xinjiang, Urumqi. After settling in Urumqi, they decided to cross the border and settle in the vicinity of the Tajik capital, where they expected to find better income opportunities. The Chinese family arrived in Tajikistan in 2009 and managed to rent a shop on the central bazaar in the Tajik capital to sell, initially imported dry goods from China. They soon observed a demand for particular Chinese vegetables and they found the possibility to lease one hectare of land from a Tajik woman. The Tajik lady clearly acted as a broker to access the land. The terms of agreement are rather vague and uncertain, since the contract is prolonged only monthly, and the family is extremely overcharged for the usage rights (when compared to average rental prices for farm land). The revenues from the fields, together with the shop income, provide the family with good, but not extraordinarily high, income. They sublet their property in China, and all together this will allow them to build up savings for when they decide to go back to China (interview 4 January 2015).

The family rehabilitated the greenhouses, which were left on the fields by earlier tenants, with materials they ordered from China. The greenhouses allow the family to continue cultivating vegetables throughout the year. The produce they sell is of limited diversity: cabbage, spinach, beans, and melons. All the inputs required for production are brought from China. Besides vegetables and dried products, they also sell pork meat that they order from Tajik suppliers. However, there are other principal outlets that are more significant for their business, including Chinese restaurants and Chinese companies that run their own canteens (interview 31 October 2014). Thus, the family has clearly responded to an observed market niche, supplying Chinese individuals and companies. Their business seems to be fairing well, and the family has started to learn some Russian and Tajik. Their young son, who is 15 years old, supports his parents in their work at the bazaar, and is eager to develop a business in Tajikistan (once he is an adult) in the coming years, if he

BRICS Initiatives in Critical Agrarian Studies (BICAS)

Whereas Tajikistan has made a slow transition from a planned economy to a more market-driven economy, privatization of land has not taken place. The Tajik state remains the sole owner of all land. According to the Tajik Land Code, Tajik citizens can obtain inheritable user rights, under which they can rent out their land for a particular period of time. Foreigners can lease land for up to 49 years.

remains in Tajikistan.

Particularly in these kinds of activities, Tajik people experience the Chinese presence and the growth in their population. This occurs in the interaction on the street and in the shops. This contrasts with the often-isolated operations of larger Chinese companies in Tajikistan. I discuss a larger Chinese land investment in Tajikistan in the following section.

4.2 Large-scale Chinese land investment in Tajikistan: commercially state-driven?_

A large Chinese agricultural land investment in Tajikistan was announced in 2011 and implemented in 2012. The background of this supposed 'single' investment is complicated. In fact, there are different projects included under one umbrella²²: Jing Yin Yin Hai, or in Tajik: Szinnyan Inhai LLC. The total investment is significantly larger than the privately initiated projects described in the preceding section. According to the website of the company, it has registered with RMB 5 million (USD 0.82 million²³), whereas other sources report figures of RMB 30 million (USD 4.9 million²⁴) (Xinhuanet June 12, 2014²⁵). The company's headquarters is set in Dushanbe, and before 2014, there were three working stations in three regions, namely Yovon (cotton, staples and vegetables) Jaloliddini Rumi (staples) and Vahdat (seed factory). 'They jointly operate over 8239.5 square metres of agricultural land. Their main missions include seed production, division and distribution' (Huang Fan 2014).

4.2.1 Stated intentions and media portrayal of Jing Yin Yin Hai

The company Jing Yin Yin Hai has been extending through different districts since it started, and by 2015, the operation covered a wider array of activities. Whereas the background and structure is complicated (see section 4.2.2), I first describe the way in which the investments were portrayed and legitimised in Tajikistan, before describing actual developments and observations.

Both Tajik and Chinese media have reported about the investments, mentioning that such investments would increase crop production, conditions of the fields, and upgrade agricultural knowledge and technology (see for instance Jumguriat 2012, Nosirdjon 2014, Xinhuanet 2014). Nosirdjon notes that, 'the main purposes of collaboration is applying modern technology in agriculture, recovering the fields that are not in use anymore' (2014). Demonstration plots would be established, and Tajik farmers would benefit from learning and knowledge transfer (Nosirdjon 2014, Xinhuanet 2014, Huang Fan 2014). Tajik governmental officials cited in local media, stated that the company might be granted more lands in the future, with the head of the region saying: "We will consider the widening of farming land for this company from the lands that are not in proper use by other farmer communities and expecting further collaboration between company and farmer communities in Yovon and import of new and more fertile seeds of wheat from the farmer of Khenan district" (Nosirdjon 2014).

My own observations and fieldwork however contest the statements of 'unused' fields (see Hofman 2013, and Baka 2013 on contested term of 'unused', i.e. the political construction of wastelands). In some instances, it indeed regarded abandoned land – for socio-economic and historical reasons beyond the scope

-

²² I discuss the structure shortly hereafter. Interesting to mention is that Chinese overseas companies often feature complicated structures, and sometimes branch out to entirely different sectors, which makes it difficult to unravel the original orientation and focus (I thank Solange Chatelard for valuable insights).

²³ Bloomberg currency converter, http://www.bloomberg.com/quote/USDCNY:CUR accessed 14 November 2014.

²⁴ Bloomberg currency converter, http://www.bloomberg.com/quote/USDCNY:CUR accessed 14 November 2014.

²⁵ http://www.ha.xinhuanet.com/hnxw/2014-06/12/c_1111099152.htm, retrieved on 15 October 2014.

of this article – yet in other cases, lands were cultivated years before. It is true that fields in one of the two districts where the Chinese started were highly salinised. However, in 2014 the company withdrew from this location after poor field conditions caused production to fail for two consequent years (fieldwork 2013 and 2014, Ergasheva 2014b). Interestingly, Jing Yin Yin Hai initially refused to settle near the Afghan border for reasons of insecurity, but local media reported that the company eventually took over these fields in 2013 (not confirmed during fieldwork 2015). These aspects indicate that commercial interests play an important role in this investment, and if geopolitical motivations would be the principal drivers behind this investment, the company evidently would not have withdrawn from the area where they faced problems²⁷. In the other location however, in the vicinity of the Tajik capital, where infrastructure and field conditions are in relatively good condition, Chinese cultivation has expanded since it began (fieldwork observations 2013 and 2014). While the operation is expanding and can be followed step-by-step, the background of the company remains complicated, and critical in tracing the drivers and their relationship to the Chinese state.

4.2.2 Background of the company

Jing Yin Yin Hai was officially founded in November 2013 and the structure of the company is complex. What seems to be a single company is actually made up of a complicated structure.

Jing Yin Yin Hai was founded by a Chinese official at the National Ministry of Agriculture (interview 6 January 2015). Initially only involved in the crop seed business, the former official attracted other Chinese companies to expand businesses in Tajikistan. In practice this official, based in the Tajik capital Dushanbe, is not involved in the daily functioning of the Chinese companies that joined, but these companies use his connections both in China and in Tajikistan to gain footing and to continue to work in Tajikistan²⁸.

At this stage, there are two principal companies involved in forming a co-venture – Huang Fan commerce and Jing Yin Yin Hai Seeds, both from Henan province, where several other Chinese companies are also from (see also Asia Plus 2014b). The companies' respective operations are different in which crops they grow and approaches they use, as well as where they originate.

Huang Fan is oriented toward the production of cotton, wheat and maize in Tajikistan. As of 2015, aside from research and experimentation with cotton and wheat varieties, the company will contract Tajik farmers to grow cotton (the target for 2015 is to contract cotton-growing farmers totaling an area of 3000 hectares, interview 5 January 2015). The company has its own cotton gin, and will pre-finance farmers for the cotton growing season, including the provision of seeds.

Huang Fan has a long history. The company originates from an area in the province of Henan in central China, and was founded in the late 1940s, after the nationalists in pre-communist China defeated the Japanese and re-colonised the flooded lands. Under nationalist rule, the Americans were on good terms with the Chinese and supported the farms with advanced agricultural machinery and technology. The US forces retreated when the communists came to power. The communists could not operate the machines and Zhou

²⁷ This resembles observations of Chinese companies in other contexts, such as by Liu Dong in Iraq, who states: 'my hypothesis is that while the investments made by Chinese NOCs in Iran and Iraq are incapable of improving China's energy security, their involvements in these two resource-rich countries will receive limited support from the Chinese government and, consequently, their investment decisions in this regard are primarily driven by commercial considerations' (Liu 2014, 566).

According to the workers, the fields appointed to them all belonged to one big landowner. They were surprised about land use patterns and farm reorganisation in Tajikistan. They expressed their impression that land reform had not been executed well, when they asked how it was possible that not everyone had access to land, and how it was possible that one person could control such big pieces of land (interview with Chinese farm worker 5 January 2015).

Telling, in this regard, is the fact that the well-placed former official persuaded another Chinese farmer, who cultivated fields in one of the districts since 2012, to move to a district further north (fieldwork January 2015).

Enlai (first appointed premier from the People's Republic of China in 1949) appointed the newly established collective farm to utilise the machinery to rejuvenate the fields. Huang Fan benefited from the infrastructure left behind by the Americans, such as telephones and machinery, which were rare in those days. Henan, the region of origin of the company, is known as the food stock of China. It is the region's (political) mission to uphold food production, and to advance and lead agricultural production. The Huang Fan farm has an important role in this objective, as workers are taught about 'turning wasteland into productive farmland'

(interview 6 January 2015).²⁹ The home base of the farm in Henan has sixteen locations, and the specialists now working in Tajikistan have been sent from different locations. It took two generations to build up the farm to the way it is now.

The workers take pride in their history, and talk emotionally about the history of their farm. They have the idea to do charity work in Tajikistan, while fulfilling the goals of the Chinese government (interview 6 January 2015). The vision of the Chinese workers does not point to commercial aims, but the actual activities of the company do (i.e. expanding cotton production through contract-farming, including the processing and sales).

Concurring with Huang Fan's cultivation of cotton and staple crops is Jing Yin Yin Hai Seeds' focus on producing vegetables, which primarily takes place in newly built greenhouses. Jing Yin Yin Hai was established in 2007, specialising in seeds and agricultural commerce, in cooperation with a few Chinese local research institutions. In Tajikistan the company primarily deals with production of vegetables to be sold in local markets. The managers are eager to expand the operation in the coming years, in order to become the largest vegetable producing enterprise of Central Asia, with outlets to Russia, Afghanistan and further abroad (interview 6 January 2015). The production to date comprises vegetables that are used in Tajik cuisine, such as onions, tomatoes, cucumbers, chili peppers, as well as less common Chinese beans, melons, eggplant and cabbage grown on smaller plots. In doing so, the company's sales are diversifying local produce, and may have the potential to enrich Tajik diets. This latter point may be particularly important now that Tajik small-scale farmers are also experimenting with new vegetables that were introduced by the Chinese, such as broccoli and Chinese cabbage.

The vegetables produced are sold on local markets (mainly in the capital), but there are no particular, special outlets – in contrast with the above discussion of farm production by individuals and Chinese households (fieldwork interviews 2013, fieldwork November 2014). The company partly sells its own produce, while other crops are traded by Chinese businessmen who have private food retail businesses.

For staple crops cotton, and other vegetables, the companies involved primarily use inputs (seeds, fertilizers, defoliants, techniques) brought from China (see also Huang Fan 2014, Xinhuanet 2014). The construction material, including plastics and bamboo stalks longer than four metres, are brought overland through the Pamir Mountains. This is a cumbersome, dangerous corridor that is nevertheless critical for moving Chinese supplies. Yet, besides this particular flow of tangible resources from China to Tajikistan, it is very difficult to retrieve information on the extent to which companies are actually supported by the Chinese state. I discuss this in the following section.

_

²⁹ According to Chinese sources, Huang Fan is also involved in Chinese investment in the Ukraine, where they established a joint venture with a Ukrainian company. The investments in the Ukraine and Tajikistan seem to be the only two projects where the company is involved in. http://blog.sina.com.cn/s/blog_4de7be930102v4ml.html (Accessed on 21-10-2014). Chinese workers in Tajikistan are well aware about the company's investment in the Ukraine. The propaganda also contains the purpose of the company's investment in the Ukraine, which is to turn wasteland into productive land (interviews 7 January 2015).

4.2.3 State support

Chinese companies in Tajikistan cannot operate without critical connections, referring to both their Chinese and Tajik connections. At the same time, it is hard to observe and unravel particular elite or political connections. First, local *Tajik* brokers and elites are critical for the Chinese actors to settle and set up their businesses or operations, both in cases of small and large Chinese agricultural projects.

Second, but no less important for Chinese companies in Tajikistan, may be Chinese state support. The principle supporters of the Chinese agricultural companies farming in Tajikistan seem entirely provincial (see also Xinhuanet 2014), in which the Chinese former official has been pushing and initiating overarching investment. It seems logical that the company has benefited from the agricultural cooperation agreement between China and Tajikistan (Yuldoshev 2014b), but it has not been confirmed in interviews. The former official, who initiated Jing Yin Yin Hai's settlement and expansion, has been responsible for attracting the required capital. According to Chinese media, Jing Yin Yin Hai is the first agricultural company from Henan that has executed the 'going out strategy'. As mentioned above, with the Third Plenum of November 2013, which included the goal of accelerating the 'going out' of agricultural companies, and furthering the Silk Road Economic Belt, Henan province launched plans to expand companies' overseas investments ³⁰ (Xinhuanet 2014, see also a blog post on http://blog.sina.com.cn/s/blog_4de7be930102v4ml.html ³¹).

The widely pursued degree of decentralisation of the Chinese governmental structure implies that activities – even overseas – undertaken by lower levels of authority, such as provinces, are not necessarily monitored or taken up by Beijing. One observation exemplifying this is the fact that the Chinese ambassador has not once visited the project with the Tajik president. In case of stronger governmental involvement, instructions would have been detailed before any visit would take place.

Hence, the company's 'going out' in Tajikistan follows the government's stated plans to facilitate the globalisation of its companies. There are no indications that there is a strong connection to the Chinese central government, technically nor politically. What is remarkable is the fact that the Chinese farm workers are forced on their own to experiment and test suitable cropping methods and inputs. Furthermore, the Chinese companies are solely responsible in competing with Tajik traders for market outlets in nearby urban areas (fieldwork 2015).

The company's strategy and approach fits into the 'developmental outsourcing' trend briefly mentioned above, which follows the bilateral agreement between Henan province and the Tajik government. As was stated in Chinese media Xinhua, 'the (...) farms actively implement the "going out" strategy, namely the establishment of agricultural investment company in Tajikistan and the Ukraine, became the province's first "go out" large state-owned farms run by agricultural enterprises³². In this sense, this particular investment in Tajikistan might not be of a different nature than other Chinese global investments, which are part of larger loan and investment packages (see for instance Alden and Hughes 2009, 575; Hofman and Ho 2012, Strauss 2009, Tan-Mullins *et al.* 2010).

The spread and increase in Chinese agricultural projects becomes more complicated to keep track of over the years. In addition to the research and demonstration components of the investment described above, there are a few more Chinese individuals and small groups working in agriculture in Tajikistan (fieldwork 2012, fieldwork 2014-2015). There are Chinese individuals building greenhouses and growing crops, and

³⁰ Remarkable is that Jing Yin Yin Hai registered another co-venture in 2010 with a company in Xinjiang. This loosely conforms to the general flow of migration and the Far West program, in this case for seemingly private motives. The counterpart in this co-venture in Xinjiang originates from the 5th Division of Xinjiang's Xinjiang Production and Construction Corps.

The website re-blogged an article from "China agriculture" magazine http://blog.sina.com.cn/s/blog_4de7be930102v4ml.html [Accessed 21 October 2014].

³² http://www.ha.xinhuanet.com/hnxw/2014-06/12/c_1111099152.htm, retrieved on 15 October 2014.

small teams of Chinese researchers conducting experiments on rice and cotton. In some other districts, they have also set up cotton processing facilities (Avesta 2015, fieldwork February 2015). Interestingly, my impression is that some projects initiated by Chinese actors are made public only after their actual implementation.

To sum up, it is clear that engagement of Chinese enterprises and individuals, also in agriculture, continues to increase, even more so since more provincial authorities seek to invest in Tajikistan's agriculture (see for instance Yuldoshev 2014a). What these may bring is not known to date, but what is clear is that different, sometimes overlapping drivers constitute China's farm projects in its neighbouring region. I will wrap up and summarise the above in the conclusion below.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, I have aimed to highlight the variety of Chinese actors involved in the Tajik economy today, with particular reference to land, and the factors that drive them to invest in Tajikistan.

China's presence in Tajikistan has become more pronounced since the start of the last decade (Sodiqov 2009, Laruelle and Peyrouse 2012, Ibraimov 2009, see also Peyrouse 2007, Alimov 2012, Kassenova 2009). Numerous projects and investments in the economy have been implemented in the last two decades, initially in the primary industry, followed by more sophisticated economic activities and petty trade in the past five years.

While state-backed agreements have clearly been the vehicle for further Chinese expansion in the region, smaller scale Chinese entrepreneurship also plays a major role in the Central Asian economies today. In terms of numbers, the smaller scale activities clearly outnumber the larger investments, and it is also through the particular small-scale initiatives that daily interactions between Chinese and Tajik people take shape. In terms of size, and in terms of media attention, it is however the larger more long-term investment this is more pronounced. A related issue, which I have left unexplored here, and as earlier remarked by Henderson *et al.* (2013, 1240) is the fact that: 'the combinations of investment by Chinese SOE and private companies, aid flows that subsidize some of that investment and encourage participation by political elites, as well as trade and migration dynamics, have diverse outcomes that can be spatially specific'.

So how can we explain China's increasing presence in Tajikistan more specifically, and how can we understand China's involvement in agriculture? Whereas the agricultural projects were only implemented in 2011 and 2012, less visible, smaller scale farming by Chinese people has been taking place for the last five years.

As mentioned in the above, China's global rise has often been portrayed as a strongly state-driven, state-backed development. China's presence in the Central Asian region has multiple drivers, which are not solely led by the central Chinese government. Without any doubt, the political instability of the region and geopolitics play a significant role in China's growing presence in the region. The national states' political and social dynamics warrant Chinese attention. However as Breslin notes, 'We can (...) argue about what drives what—whether international security concerns drive a change in economic strategy to mollify the region, or domestic political/economic perspectives drive a move to engage the region' (2009, 834).

What would explain Chinese land acquisitions in this land scarce, food insecure context? Tajikistan does not bear much potential for highly productive agriculture. As described above, transport of goods to China is limited, which explicates that Chinese domestic food security is certainly not a driver behind these agricultural investments and projects. It is clear that Chinese state investments pave ways for Chinese actors to enter the Central Asian frontier zone. This is not a driver as such, but it may help the Chinese state to monitor social and political instability, by increasing presence literally 'on the ground'.

As a *first* driver, the provincial authority of Henan province, involved in the agricultural deals, seems to pursue investments for market development and global expansion of its companies. The benefits of the kind

of bilateral agreements it has signed with Tajik authorities, is that they accrue larger companies with a base in China. This is as a driver, probably more so than regional stability, plays a role.

Thus, there are many provincial government objectives expressed in these agricultural investments, such as the *second* driver: the *commercial* drive of companies. In fact, 'commercial' is a container term for a variety of business considerations, with very different strategies and outcomes. Individual Chinese entrepreneurs undertake farming to supply the Chinese migrants abroad, whether through self-consumption or through produce for Chinese restaurants. In this way, Chinese workers meet their private consumption demand for Chinese food, which cannot be found on the local bazaars. For some who find outlets and produce more than just for subsistence, the sales of produce provide them with surplus income. The Chinese family described above, which grows Chinese vegetables for commercial use, has found a (profitable) niche in the market. They have their own special outlets for their crops.

The larger Chinese company, Jing Yin Yin Hai operates on a much larger scale. For the companies included in this amalgam, local conventional outlets seem to suffice, at least to date, the company is actively branching out. They hope to gain more established footing on the ground. They purpose the further expansion of sales networks and adaptability of their varieties in the Central Asian region. For this company farming may be a vehicle to test and showcase new varieties of crops and new technologies. It develops its commerce through the export of technology. By providing showcases of new seeds and farming technologies, a new market in the neighbouring agrarian societies may open up. The provincial company's perspective is medium or long-term. This tendency thus reverses the common narrative on Chinese agricultural ventures abroad. Instead of aiming for importing food back to China, it is about exporting agricultural technology. What is more, at this stage the company is supplying, and by doing so, enriching the Tajik market with new crops, which in fact is an improvement in the availability of vegetables, particularly in the winter season. Thus, while this is an initial early development, for the Tajik consumer, it is not negative per se – in contrast to common (and initial) assumptions that 'land grabs' deprive local populations from access to food (most often the focus is on deprivation of already food insecure African states, see for instance Grain 2008, Cotula et al. 2009, for critique see Bräutigam and Zhang 2013, Gong and le Billon 2014).

Lastly, as a *third* driver, I distinguish a socio-political aspect, which is expressed through the 'going out' strategy of Chinese provincial and national authorities. Labour issues and domestic market competition are important imperatives of cross border mobility. Increasingly, since the opening up of borders along China's western border, Chinese individuals and companies search for fortune abroad, in Central Asia, but also in Mongolia and in Russia's Far East. This development is partially led by the Chinese state through start-up subsidies and 'far west development', but a substantial part of Chinese settlement in Tajikistan has been self-initiated. By outmigration, whether as an individual, group or company, the Chinese authorities and Chinese people seek livelihoods, fortune and affluence across borders.

To wrap up: Chinese cross border activities in the Central Asian neighbouring economies are driven by and exemplify Chinese domestic issues and policies that are characteristic for this border zone, but at the same time, the nature of investments fit into the general pattern of China's global expansion. While there may not be major differences with China in Central Asia, compared to China elsewhere; the kinds of investment and interaction are specific, particularly when it comes to individual cross border interaction. Lack of employment opportunities, the competition on the domestic market, meager retirement payments, and stringent labour regulations, are driving Chinese cross border activities and migration. Different Chinese actors have become engaged in the Tajik economy, and by the same token, the kinds of Chinese actors and their activities in Tajik agriculture are also diverse. These are not all part of one coordinated effort to expand China's presence in the region.

The case of China in Tajikistan exemplifies that China's rise in the border zone is resulting from the country's social and economic dynamics, but also from the relatively recent opening up of borders. Chinese public and private needs, such as political control and individual fortune, drive Chinese cross border

investment. Understanding China's role in, and drivers of, foreign farming thus requires zooming in on context-specific characteristics. Only through such an exercise, the complicated amalgams of Chinese actors can be unpacked and container concepts can be challenged.

References

- Alden, C. and C.R. Hughes (2009). Harmony and discord in China's Africa strategy: Some implications for foreign policy. *The China Quarterly*, 199, 563–584.
- Alff, H. (2014). Embracing Chinese modernity? Articulation and positioning in China Kazakhstan trade and exchange processes. Crossroads Asia Working paper series No. 21.
- Alimov, R.K. (2012). Τα∂жикистан Китай: на пути друг κ другу. (Tajikistan-China: towards each other. Is it possible to equal and mutually beneficial dialogue?) Moscow: Ans. Ed. SG. Lousianin; Institute of Far Eastern Studies.
- Altaiskaia Pravda (2004). Kitaitsy reshili osvaivat' zemli v Kazakhstane. *Altaiskaia Pravda* 30 January 2004. http://www.ap.altairegion.ru/023-04/14.html [Accessed 17 November 2014].
- Asadov, S. (2013). Food Security and the agricultural cooperation agenda in Central Asia with a focus on Tajikistan. Dushanbe: University of Central Asia: Graduate School of Development, Institute of Public Policy and Administration. *Working Paper No. 16*.
- Asia Plus (2014a). China will help make Tajikistan's agriculture high-technology. *Asia Plus* 15 May 2014 [Accessed 18 June 2014].
- Asia Plus (2014b). Tajik, Chinese presidents pledge cooperation in connectivity, anti terrorism. *Asia Plus* 9 November 2014. http://www.news.tj/en/news/tajik-cchinese-presidents-pledge-cooperation-connectivity-anti-terrorism [Accessed 9 November 2014].
- Avesta (2015). Kitaj nameren postroit' v Tadzhikistane dva hlopkopererabatyvajushhih predprijatija *Avesta* 16 February 2015. http://www.avesta.tj/business/30754-kitay-nameren-postroit-v-tadzhikistane-dva-hlopkopererabatyvayuschih-predpriyatiya.html [Accessed 18 February 2015].
- Baka, J. (2013). The political construction of wasteland: Governmentality, land acquisition and social inequality in South India. *Development and Change* 44(2), 409-428.
- Bille, G. Delaplace and C. Humphrey (eds). *Frontier encounters knowledge and practice at the Russian, Chinese and Mongolian border*. U.K/U.S.: Open book publishers, pp. 71-88.
- Bohr, A. (2004). Regionalism in Central Asia: new geopolitics, old regional order. *International Affairs* 80(3), 485-502.
- Bräutigam, D.A. and X. Tang (2009). China's engagement in African agriculture: "Down to the countryside". *The China Quarterly*, 199: 686-706.
- Bräutigam, D. and H. Zhang (2013). Green dreams: Myth and reality in China's agricultural investment in Africa. *Third World Quarterly*, 34(9), 1676-1696.
- Breslin, S. (2009). Understanding China's regional rise: interpretations, identities and implications. *International Affairs* 85(4), 817–835.
- Brown, D. (2014). The New Silk Road: China reclaims its crown. *The Diplomat* 18 November 2014 http://thediplomat.com/2014/11/the-new-silk\ road-china-reclaims-its-crown/. [Accessed 15 February 2015].
- Central Asia Economy Newswire (2012). More Chinese invited to farm Tajik land. *Central Asia Economy Newswire* 17 January 2012
 - http://www.universalnewswires.com/centralasia/economy/viewstory.aspx?id=11173 [Accessed 12 April 2012].
- CentrAsia (2004). Kitajskie migranty prodolzhajut ugrozhat' Kirgizii (anonimnoe pis'mo v redakciju). http://www.centrasia.ru/newsA.php?st=1090786200 [Accessed 16 November 2014].
- Cotula, L., S. Vermeulen, R. Leonard, J. Keeley (2009). Land grab or development opportunity? Agricultural investment and international land deals in Africa. Rome: IIED, FAO, IFAD.
- Demytrie, R. (2010). Kazakhs protest against China farmland lease. *BBC News* 30 January 2010. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/asia-pacific/8489024.stm [Accessed 20 October 2013].
- Dyatlov, V. (2012). Chinese migrants and anti-Chinese sentiments in Russian society. In: F.

- Emomiddin, M. (2009). Xitoizatsija va Bozori "Korvon". SSSR 9 May 2009.
- Ergasheva, Z. 2013. Chinese farmers reportedly intend to apply for leasing more farmland in Tajikistan. *Asia Plus* 14 July 2013.
- Ergasheva, Z. (2014a). Kitaiskie fermery namereny vzyat v arendu bogarnye zemli v kumsangire. *Asia Plus* 28 February 2014. http://www.news.tj/ru/news/kitaiskie-fermery-namereny-vzyat-v-arendu-bogarnye-zemli-v-kumsangire [Accessed 2 March 2014].
- Ergasheva, Z. (2014b). Rumi district administration gives back lands from Chinese farmers. *Asia Plus* 17 July 2014. http://news.tj/en/news/rumi-district-administration-gives-back-lands-chinese-farmers [Accessed 20 July 2014].
- Farchy, J. (2014a). Tajikistan touts itself as new investment frontier. *Financial Times* 21 October 2014. http://blogs.ft.com/beyond-brics/2014/10/21/tajikistan-touts-itself-as-new-investment-frontier/#Page [Accessed 26 October 2014].
- Farchy, J. (2014b). Tajikistan looks to China as Russian remittances dry up. Financial Times 26 October 2014. [Accessed 26 October 2014].
- Frost, S. and M. Ho (2005). "Going Out": The growth of Chinese foreign direct investment in Southeast Asia and its implications for corporate social responsibility. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 12, 157–67.
- Fozil, F. (2012). Todjikon ba Rusija Chiniho ba Todjikiston? Nigoh 18 January 2012.
- Gong Qian and P. le Billon (2014). Feeding (on) geopolitical anxieties: Asian appetites, news media framing and the 2007–2008 food crisis. *Geopolitics*, 19(2), 291-321.
- Grain (2008). Seized! The 2008 land grab for food and financial security. *Grain Briefing*, October. Available from: www.grain.org/briefings/?id=212 [Accessed 10 December 2009].
- Gu, J. (2009). China's private enterprises in Africa and the implications for African development. *European Journal of Development Research*, 21: 570-87.
- Huang Fan (2014). 经研银海种业: 开在国外的小麦观摩会 (Silversea seed industry through research: On wheat demonstrations abroad) *Huang Fan* 22 May 2014. http://news.wugu.com.cn/article/20140522/191294.html [Accessed 2 November 2014].
- Henderson, J., Appelbaum, R. P. and S.Y. Ho (2013). Globalization with Chinese characteristics: Externalization, dynamics and transformations. *Development and Change* 44, 1221–53.
- Hofman, I. (2013). Understanding forms of contention in the post- Soviet setting: Rural responses to Chinese land investments in Tajikistan. LDPI Working paper no. 35.
- Hofman, I. and O. Visser (2014). Geographies of transition: the political and geographical factors of agrarian change in Tajikistan. IAMO Discussion paper no. 151.
- Ibraimov, S. (2009). China-Central Asia trade relations: economic and social patterns. *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, 7(1), 47-59.
- Ilhom. G. (2012). Shui Chini! Krizisi shavhar hal shud. Nigoh 31 October 2012.
- International Crisis Group (ICG) (2013). *China's Central Asia problem*. Asia Report N°244. Brussels (Belgium): International Crisis Group.
- Jarosiewicz, A. and K. Strachota (2013). China vs. Central Asia. The achievements of the past two decades. Warsaw: Centre for Eastern Studies (OCW).
- Jumguriat (2012). Bozdidi prezident az nohijaji Yovon. Jumguriat, 7 August 2012.
- Kassenova, N. (2009). China as an emergent donor in Tajikistan and Kyrzystan. Russie. Nei. Visions No 36, January 2009.
- Khatlon (2012). Cafari kori ba nohijai Yovoni Vilojati Khatlon. Khatlon 9 August 2012.
- Kucera, J. (2011). The New Silk Road? *The Diplomat* 11 November 2011. http://thediplomat.com/2011/11/the-new-silk-road/ [Accessed 12 February 2015].
- Laruelle, M. and S. Peyrouse (2012). *The Chinese question in Central Asia: Domestic order, social change and the Chinese factor*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Li Czin (2013). SOTRUDNIChESTVO RESPUBLIKI TADZhIKISTAN I KITAJSKOJ NARODNOJ RESPUBLIKI V RAMKAH ShOS (1996-2012 GG.) Dushanbe: Ph.D. Dissertation Tajik National University.
- Liu, D. (2014). China's resource demand and market opportunities in the Middle East: Policies and operations in Iran and Iraq. *Perspectives on Global Development and Technology* 13, 564-87.

- Olimova, S. (2008). The multi-faceted Chinese presence in Tajikistan. *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, 7(1), 61-77.
- Ma Junjie (2015). The Silk Road and the power of ideas. *The Diplomat* 10 February 10 2015 http://thediplomat.com/2015/02/the-new-silk-road-and-the-power-of-ideas/ [Accessed 14 February 2015].
- Natural Gas Asia (2013). Total and CNODC Farm-in to Tethys' Tajikistan assets. http://www.naturalgasasia.com/total-and-cnodc-farm-in-to-tethys-tajikistan-assets. [Accessed 5 September 2014].
- Naughton, B. (2007). The Chinese Economy: Transition and Growth, Cambridge MA: The MIT Press.
- Nosirdjon, M. (2014). D. Gulmahmadzoda: az hamkori bo kishovarzoni chini kanoatmandem. Khatlon, 17 July 2014.
- Nasriev (2011). Chin bojad zamnii moro bargardonad! SSSR 17 March 2011.
- Pan Zhiping (2014). Silk Road Economic Belt: A Dynamic New Concept for Geopolitics in Central Asia. China Institute. Beijing: China Institute of International Studies. http://www.ciis.org.cn/english/2014-09/18/content_7243440.htm [Accessed 31 January 2015].
- Pannier, B. (2011). Tajikistan agrees to allow Chinese farmers to till land. *Radio Free Europe*, 27 January 2011. Available from http://origin.rferl.org/content/tajikistan_china/2289623.html [Accessed 3 February 2011].
- Petersen, A. and K. Barysch (2011). Russia, China and the geopolitics of energy in Central Asia. London: Centre for European Reform (CER). Available at http://www.wilsoncenter.org/sites/default/files/RUSS-China_Geopolit_Nov.2011.pdf
- Peyrouse, S. (2007). The hydroelectric sector in Central Asia and the growing role of China. *China and Eurasia Forum Quarterly*, 5(2), 131-148.
- Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty (2012). Tajikistan to lease land to Chinese farmers. *Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty* 18 January 2012 [Accessed 12 August 2012].
- Rickleton, C. (2014). Central Asia: Can China's Silk Road vision coexist with a Eurasian Union? *Eurasianet* 12 November 2014.
- Sodiqov, A. (2009). China boosts investment in Tajikistan. Central Asia-Caucasus Analyst 11(13), 19-20.
- Strauss, J.C. 2009. The past in the present: Historical and rhetorical lineages in China's relations with Africa. *The China Quarterly*, 199, 777–795.
- Tan-Mullins, M., Mohan, G. and M. Power (2010). Redefining "aid" in the China-Africa context. *Development and Change*, 41(5), 857-81.
- Trilling, D. (2013). Why are Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan so split on foreign mining? *Eurasianet.org* 8 August 2013 [Accessed 10 August 2013].
- Tursunzoda, M. (2013). Tajik MFA calls statement by SDP leader 'provocation'. Asia Plus 16 April 2013.
- Xinhuanet (2014). 中原农业"闯"丝路. Plains agriculture "break" Silk Road. *Xinhuanet* 12 June 2014. http://www.ha.xinhuanet.com/hnxw/2014-06/12/c_1111099152.htm [Accessed 18 November 2014].
- Yan, H. and B. Sautman (2010). Chinese farms in Zambia: From socialist to "agro-imperialist" engagement? *African and Asian Studies*, 9(3), 307-333.
- Yahuda, M. (2010). Chinese dilemmas in thinking about regional security architecture. *The Pacific Review*, 16(2), 189-206.
- Yan, H. and B. Sautman (2010). Chinese farms in Zambia: From socialist to "Agro Imperialist" engagement? *African and Asian Studies* 9, 307-333.
- Yuldashev, A. (2013). Gas pipeline from Turkmenistan to China will attract over \$3 Billion into Tajik economy. *Asia Plus* 13 September 2013 [Accessed 10 January 2014].
- Yuldoshev, A. (2014a). China's Gansu expresses wish to establish relations with Tajikistan's regions. *Asia Plus* 27 May 2014. news.tj/.../china-s-gansu-expresses-wish-establish-relations-tajikistan-s-regions [Accessed 28 May 2014].
- Yuldoshev, A. (2014b). China expected to invest more than \$800 mln in enhancement of Tajikistan's agrarian sector. *Asia Plus* 7 November 2014.
- Vinson, M. (2012). China land deal upsets Tajiks. *Asia Times Online* 31 March 2012. http://www.atimes.com/atimes/Central_Asia/NB17Ag01.html [Accessed 4 June 2012].
- Visser, O. (2009). Household plots and the symbiosis with the large farm enterprises. In: M. Spoor, ed. Land, peasants and rural poverty in transition. The political economy of rural livelihoods in transition

economies. London and New York: Routledge.

- Visser, O. and M. Spoor (2011). Land grabbing in post-Soviet Eurasia: the world's largest agricultural land reserves at stake. *Journal of Peasant Studies*, 38(2), 299-323.
- Visser, O. N. Mamonova and M. Spoor (2012). Oligarchs, megafarms and land reserves: understanding land grabbing in Russia. *Journal of Peasant Studies*, 39(3-4), 899-931.



Working Paper Series

BICAS is a collective of largely BRICS-based or connected academic and policy-oriented researchers concerned with understanding the BRICS countries and some powerful middle income countries (MICs) and their implications for global agrarian transformations. Critical theoretical and empirical questions about the origins, character and significance of complex changes underway need to be investigated more systematically. BICAS is an 'engaged research' initiative founded on a commitment to generating solid evidence and detailed, field-based research that can deepen analysis and inform policy and practice - with the aim of ultimately influencing international and national policies in favour of rural poor peoples. In BICAS we will aim to connect disciplines across political economy, political ecology and political sociology in a multi-layered analytical framework, to explore agrarian transformations unfolding at national, regional and global levels and the relationships between these levels. BICAS is founded on a vision for broader, more inclusive and critical knowledge production and knowledge exchange. We are building a joint research agenda based principally on our capacities and expertise in our respective countries and regions, and informed by the needs of our graduate students and faculty, but aiming to scale up in partnership and in dialogue with others, especially social movement activists. BICAS Working Paper Series is one key venue where we hope to generate critical and relevant knowledge in collaborative manner. Our initial focus will be on Brazil, China and South Africa, the immediate regions where these countries are embedded, and the MICs in these regions. While we will build on a core coordinating network to facilitate exchange we aim to provide an inclusive and dynamic space, a platform, a community, hence we invite participation.

www.plaas.org.za/bicas; www.iss.nl/bicas; Email: bricsagrarianstudies@gmail.com

About the author

Irna Hofman is a Ph.D. researcher at Leiden University Institute for Area Studies and affiliated to the ISS in The Hague through her main supervisor Dr. Oane Visser. She holds a Master of Science degree in Environmental Sciences from Wageningen University and is rural sociologist by training. Her work and interests are focused on agrarian and social change, rural sociology and transition economies. She has earlier conducted research in rural Uzbekistan, and more recently concentrated on China's economic development and global land investments. In her current research she analyses agrarian change in Tajikistan from a rural sociological perspective. More in particular she explores the politics of China's agricultural land investments taking place in the Tajik context, with specific regard to the dynamics at the local level. Email: irna.hofman@gmail.com













UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL PAULISTA "JÚLIO DE MESQUITA FILHO"







